

## APPENDIX IV

# *The Brownings' Address Book, ca. 1851–ca. 1856*

THE SMALL NOTEBOOK of 80 pages in which the Brownings compiled their first joint list of names and addresses was given to EBB by her husband. It is inscribed: “Ba from RB, Florence, July 14. ’48.” Apparently, it was originally intended to be used as a copybook during a three-week journey to the Adriatic coast and back that began on 17 July 1848. The first page contains a draft (in pencil) of EBB’s “Our Journey to Sinigaglia. Unfinished.” There are no other entries for this period.

The notebook was set aside until the poets were preparing for their first return visit to France and England, during 1851–1852. Entries, amendments and additions occur in both hands; in some instances entries for the same individual were made by both poets. EBB also used the notebook to record clothing expenses for herself and her son for 1851 and 1852, the latter being an itemized list with prices in francs and sous. Additional memoranda include the Brownings’ account with their publisher, Chapman and Hall, as of June 1851 (in EBB’s hand), and a note in RB’s hand regarding goods steamers. The book was in use through the Brownings’ second return trip to France and England during 1855–1856. Inside the front cover, EBB has written their 1855 London address: *13. Dorset Street– Baker Street.*

At some point, the address book came into the possession of Jean Miller-Morison, a friend of Sarianna Browning. In 1962 it was acquired by the Harry Ransom Humanities Research Center, The University of Texas at Austin. We gratefully acknowledge that institution for permission to publish the Brownings’ first joint address book.

In this presentation, names have been alphabetized, punctuation standardized, and an attempt has been made to order each person’s accompanying addresses chronologically. We give EBB’s entries in italics.

## - A -

C[harlotte] Agassiz, 2 Hyde Park Gate, Kensington<sup>1</sup>  
 Capt. Hamilton Aidé, 3 Via della Vite, 2° p°  
 30 George S<sup>t</sup>, Hanover Sq.  
 Lady Arbuthnot, Avenue Fortunée.  
 Joseph Arnould, 35 Westbourne Place, Eaton Sqr

## - B -

P. J. Bailey, 2 Melville Terrace, South S<sup>t</sup>, Greenwich.  
*Rev.<sup>d</sup> C W Baird, Piazza di Spagna, 26.*  
*Thomas Ball, Esq.<sup>r</sup> 1922. Via Maggio.*  
 Cav: [Michelangelo] Barberi, Via Rasella 148.  
 Baring Brothers & Co, 8 Bishop'sgate S<sup>t</sup>  
 G. G. Barrett, 2. Tanfield Court, Temple<sup>2</sup>  
 M. l'Abbé Baur, à l'Archevêché, R de Grenelle.  
*D.<sup>r</sup> Augustus Bayford, 5 Hornton Villas, Kensington.*  
*Miss [Sarah] Bayley, 51. Oxford Terrace*  
 Mr R[obert]. Bell, 34 York S<sup>t</sup>, Portman Square  
*M.<sup>r</sup> Ormus Biddulph, ~~44 Charing Cross.~~*  
*20 Eccleston Square*  
 Lorenzo Biondi, Via dell'Uliuzzo, 2482, presso Goldoni  
 Miss [Frances Mary] Blackett, 10 Eaton Place West  
 Mrs. J. Kenyon Blackwell, 73 Glo'ster Terrace, Hyde Park.  
*Miss [Isa] Blagden, ~~37 Westbourne Park Villas, Harrow Road.~~*  
*~~1 Wilton Street~~*  
*46 [sic, for 43] Grosvenor Place, London*  
*13. Via Gregoriana, 2<sup>do</sup> piano. Roma*  
 Mr & Mrs Stopford Blair, Hôtel des Isles Brit<sup>ques</sup>.  
 Rosa Bonheur, 32. Rue d'Assas  
 M. [Augustin] Bonnetty, R. de Babylone 10.  
*M.<sup>r</sup> [James Stuart] Bowes, 8 Rue Gaillon*  
 Miss Mary Boyle, 3. Hamilton Place, Hyde P. Corner.  
*Bradbury & Evans, Whitefriars, Fleet Street.*  
*Ma<sup>dme</sup> [Anne] Braun, Casa Tarpeia, 3°*  
*M.<sup>rs</sup> [Mary] Brotherton. Via Sant'Isidoro 16. 2<sup>d</sup> piano.*  
 Reuben B[rowning]., 9. Victoria Road, Old Charlton.  
 R[obert] B[rowning]., 6 Rue de la Comète, Rue S. Dominique.  
*28 Chepstow Place, Bayswater.*  
~~Mad. Thomas, 63 R. des Ecuries d'Artois.~~  
 138 Avenue des Champs Elysées.  
 W[illiam]. S[hergold]. Browning, 3 Camden Place, Greenwich.

*M. Buloz, Rue St Benoit 20*

Sir Henry Lytton Bulwer, Palaz. Ferroni

*Baroness Blaze de Bury, ~~22 Rue de Luxembourg~~*

18. R. Cherché-Midi

Raffaello Busacca, 33 Ch. Elysées.

– C –

T. Carlyle, 5 Cheyne Row, Chelsea.

*M<sup>rs</sup> [Anne] Carmichael Smyth, ~~19. Rue de l'union.~~*

*19. Rue d'Angoulême.*

*M. [Collings Mauger] ~~Carré. 114 Avenue des Ch. Elysées~~*

Miss [Joanna Hilary] Bonham Carter, 3 Waterloo Terrace, Glo'ster Road.

*M<sup>rs</sup> [Joanna Maria] Bonham Carter, ~~16 St James's Street~~*

44 Park S<sup>t</sup>, Park Lane.

W. C. Cartwright, Aynhoe, Brackley, Northamptonshire

Mr [Lewis] Cass, American Minister, Piazza del Popolo, 117.

*Walter R Cassels Esq<sup>r</sup>, Care of Benni & Cassels, Livorno*

*care of Mess<sup>rs</sup> John Peel & Co.,*

*23 Peel Street, Manchester.*

*To be forwarded by steamer.*

D<sup>r</sup> [Michael] Castle, Rue de Penthièvre, F<sup>s</sup> S<sup>t</sup> Honoré

Rev. & Mrs G. Spencer Cautley, Via di Porta Pinciana

Miss [Barbara] Channing, Piazza Barberini, 95

E[dward]. Chapman, 193. Piccadilly.

*M<sup>rs</sup> Henry Grafton Chapman, ~~Place Vendôme 21.~~*

*21. Rue de Verneuil, ~~53.~~ Varennes*

Baronne de Charlus, Rue Chaptal 11

*Miss [Mary Ann] Chorley, 76. Chester Square.*

*H. F. Chorley Esq<sup>re</sup>, ~~15 Victoria Square, Lower Grosvenor Place~~*

*Miss Sarah Clarke, 17 Trinità di Monti*

*M<sup>r</sup> Archer Clive, Casa Margherita, Via St Sebastianello.*

A[rthur]. Clough, 11 S<sup>t</sup> Mark's Crescent.

Comtesse de Collegno, Legation Sarde, R. S<sup>t</sup> Dominique 133.

Michael E Conan, Rue Des Granges 3. ou 2.

Barrière du Roule, F. S<sup>t</sup> Honore.

*M<sup>rs</sup> S[urtees]. C[ook]., 15. Bentinck Street, Welbeck St.*

*M<sup>rs</sup> [Louisa] Corkran, ~~52 Rue Basse du Rempart.~~*

*19 Rue de amsterdam.*

Mad<sup>lle</sup> Cornillot.

*Count [Henry] Cottrell, ~~Strada~~ Piazza Maria Antonia 5900. Florence*

Miss [Louisa Bithia] Courtenay, 9 Grosvenor S<sup>t</sup> West, Eaton Square.

43 P. di Spagna.

Hon. Mrs Cowper (William F.), 17 Curzon St.

*M<sup>r</sup>* [Christopher Pearse] *Cranch*, ~~108. Avenue de Ch. Elysées~~  
 Passy près de Paris  
 51 Avenue de la Porte Maillot, Chateau de l'Etoile

*M<sup>rs</sup>* Newton Crosland, 3. Hyde Vale Cottages, Blackheath.

Mrs Samuel Cunningham & Miss [Katherine] Cunningham,  
 32. Hereford Road, North, Westbourne Grove.

*Miss* [Charlotte] *Cushman*, 1. Bolton Row, Piccadilly.  
 13 Eaton Place, West.

Hon & Rev. Henry Cockayne Cust, The Cloisters, Windsor.

*M<sup>rs</sup>* [Sarah Jane] *Cust*, ~~Mrs Rich<sup>d</sup> Butler, 51 Cambridge St~~  
~~12 Halkin St. West, Belgrave Square~~  
 41. D. Park St  
 (The Priv.<sup>te</sup> Sec<sup>y</sup> Vice Regal Lodge, Dublin.)  
*Cockayne Hatley, St Neots*

– D –

*M<sup>r</sup>* William Henry Darley, ~~Route d'Orleans 21, Petit-Montrouge.~~  
~~171 F. S. Honoré~~  
*Rue F<sup>g</sup> St Honoré 157.*

*Hon<sup>ble</sup>* R[ichard]. Denman, *Via dei due Macelli. 24*  
 24 Westbourne Terrace, London

[Charles] Dickens, 49 Ch: Elysées.

*M<sup>rs</sup>* Charles Dickinson, 22. Cavendish Square.

C[harles] Dilke Esq.<sup>re</sup>, 9 Lower Grosvenor Place

Miss [Dorothea] Dix, Hôtel de Lille & d'Albion, 31. R. S<sup>t</sup> Honoré,  
 R de la Paix.

Rev Logan Dobinson, Casa Strozzi, Via della Scala.

Countess of Donoughmore (& Miss Steele), 4 Rue Montaigne.

*Miss* [Fanny] Dowglass, *Care of Tho<sup>s</sup> Dowglass Esq.<sup>re</sup> 20 Blandford Street*  
*Square.*

Mad<sup>e</sup> Dufres, R. de Grenelle S<sup>t</sup> Honoré, 1.

*M<sup>r</sup>* [Baldwin Francis] *Duppa*, *Corso, 151.*

Mr Jebb Dyke, 36 R. De Ponthieu.  
 49 R. d'Angoulême

– E –

*Lady Easthope. 85. Faubourg St Honoré.*

*Lady Eastlake, 7. Fitzroy Square.*

Capt. W. J. Eastwick, Hôtel d'Italie.

Hon. Egerton, Ponte alla Carraja.

*Countess of Elgin, Rue de Varennes 65.*  
 Rue de Lille 79.

7. rue du Châteauneuf, S<sup>t</sup> Germain en Laye.

Rev.<sup>d</sup> William Elliott, 33 G<sup>t</sup> Coram S<sup>t</sup>, Russell Square.

– F –

*Hon<sup>ble</sup> Julian Fane, 44 St James's Place.*

Lady Farquhar, ~~Palazzo Tomati, via Sistina, 48.~~

(26 R de Rivoli)

*18 King Street, St James's*

*M.<sup>rs</sup> [Marianne] Fell, Villino Trollope. 2.*

*M.<sup>r</sup> [William] Fisher, Palazzo Giorgi, Via Babuino 51.*

*Miss [Sarah Mary] Fitton, Rue ville l'evêque, 9.*

Mr Matthew Fletcher, 72 Newman S<sup>t</sup>

Lord Fordwych [*sic*, for Fordwich], H. della G. Bretagna.

*M. Emile Forgues, Rue de Tournon, 2.*

*Bureau de National, Rue St Georges 15.*

John Forster, 58 Lincoln's Inn Fields

46 Montagu Square.

*M.<sup>rs</sup> [Marion] Scrymsoure Fotheringham [*sic*, for Fotheringham],*

*13 Via Condotti*

Mr [William Johnson] Fox, 3 Sussex Place, Regent's Park.

– G –

*M.<sup>rs</sup> [Mary] Milnes Gaskell, Corso 63.*

Sig Gasperini, B. Legation, Florence.

Francis H. Goldsmid, 14 Portland Place.

Mr Allen Gosset, Victoria Tower, Palace of Westminster

M. [Achille Henry Victor] Gouffé, R. des Martyrs 42.

H[enry]. [William] Greville, 19 Queen S<sup>t</sup> Mayfair.

– H –

*M.<sup>rs</sup> S[amuel] C[arter] Hall, The Rosary, Old Brompton.*

*M. Ch. Hallé, 47. Bryanstone Square.*

*M.<sup>rs</sup> Hamilton, Via del Babuino 96.*

*Villa Capponi Gamberaja, vicina di Settignano*

*Miss [Euphrasia Fanny] Haworth, 45 Onslow Square, Brompton.*

*Miss [Mary Mordwinoff] Haydon, 8 Henstridge Villas,*

*St John's Wood, London.*

*Miss [Ellen] Heaton, 31 Park Square, Leeds.*

*M.<sup>r</sup> [Robert] Hedley, 12 Rue d'Astorg, Faubourg St Honoré.*

Rob<sup>t</sup> Hedley, 4253 P. S. M. Novella.

*M.<sup>r</sup> [Charles] Hemans, 56. Via dei Bergamaschi, Piazza Colonna 3<sup>o</sup> piano.*

Dr W. B. Hodgson, 11 R de Castiglione.

*M.<sup>rs</sup> [Anne] Hooper, 23. Bedford Place, Camden Hill, Kensington.*

*R H Horne Esq.<sup>re</sup>, Beaumont Cottage: College Road. ~~Chalk Farm Lane.~~  
Haverstock Hill*

Miss [Harriet] Hosmer / Miss [Matilda] Hays, Via Gregoriana 13. 3<sup>o</sup> p<sup>o</sup>  
~~Hotel de Lyon, Rue du Hazard 22, Versailles.~~

Hôtel de l'Orient, des Colonies, Marseille

H[otel]. de l'Univers, Lyon

John Hullah, 20 St James' Place.

W. Holman Hunt, 49. Claverton Terrace, Lupus St, Pimlico.

Miss [Mary] Hunter, 5. Morton Place, Walton on the Naze, Essex.

W<sup>m</sup> H. Hurlbert, 12 Park Lane

- J -

M. [Louis Godefroy] Jadin, ~~Rue ville l'Evêque. 42.~~  
Rue de Douai 43.

Mr [Francis Robert] Jago, Trejago, Hammersmith.

M. [Philippe Auguste] Jeanron, ~~15. St Germain des Prés.~~  
Rue Bonaparte, 13 39

*J. J. Jerves [sic, for Jarves] Esq., Piazza Maria Antonia.*

Miss [Geraldine Endsor] *Jewsbury. Manchester*  
3 Oakley St, King's Road, Chelsea.

Rev. Wellington Johnstone [*sic*, for Johnson], P. alla Carraja

- K -

M<sup>rs</sup> [Fanny] *Kemble, 33 Via della Mercede*  
~~29 King St, St James's~~  
16 Savile Row, Burlington Gardens.

Edward Kenyon Esq, N<sup>o</sup> 6. Schottenfeld Kaiserstrasse. Wien

*John Kenyon Esq.<sup>re</sup>, 39. Devonshire Place, Regent's Park.*  
3. Parade, West Cowes, I of Wight.

Earl of Kilmorey, 7. Grosvenor Place

*M<sup>r</sup> & M<sup>rs</sup> King, Via Fontanella di Borghese 26*

Rev. Chas Kingsley, Eversley Rectory, Winchfield, Hants.

Mr [William Burnet] Kinney, Casa del Bello, via della Fornace.

Seymour Kirkup, Casa Caruana, Ponte Vecchio.

- L -

M. [Antoine Auguste] *Laugel, 21 Rue de Varenne.*

Mr Edward Law (Agent for Francis & Co.), 16 Essex S<sup>t</sup>, Strand.

Col. [Timothy Bigelow] Lawrence, 8 Hertford S<sup>t</sup>, Mayfair.

*M<sup>de</sup> Legorge, Rue du faubourg St Honoré. 40.*

Mrs [Augusta] Leighton, 8 Rue de Luxembourg.

Frederick Leighton, 10. Maddox S<sup>t</sup>, Bond S<sup>t</sup>

Mrs [Jane] Leppard, High St, Croydon (Linen draper)

Lady Charlotte Locker, 19. Chester S<sup>t</sup>.

~~John Gibson Lockhart Esq.<sup>re</sup>, Hôtel Serny. 29.~~

Lieutenant General [Peter] Lodwick, Via Sistina 72.

Samuel Longfellow Esq.<sup>t</sup>, Rue de la Victoire 13.

M.<sup>rs</sup> [Jane Webb] Louden [*sic*, for Loudon], Via del Babuino 76.

J. R Lowell Esq.<sup>re</sup> Cambridge, Massachusetts. U.S.

Sir Edw.<sup>d</sup> Bulwer Lytton, 1 Park Lane.

Mr [Robert] Lytton, ~~Casa Caroni, 6227 Bis, Via Larga~~

~~30 Rue du Faubourg St Honoré~~

~~Villa Bricc[h]ieri, Bellosguardo~~

~~1. Park Lane, London~~

~~34 R. Montaigne~~

Hague, care of Thomas Stavely Esq, Foreign Office

\*to be forwarded by extra messenger Bridges

(\*in the corner)

– M –

Dr [Daniel Joseph] M<sup>[alc]</sup>Carthy, 33. Rue de la Madeleine

Miss [Louisa] Stewart Mackenzie (Miss [Mary] Berry's,

8 Curzon S.<sup>t</sup>, Mayfair)

11 Rutland Gate. Hyde Park

Hon M.<sup>rs</sup> [Mary] Stewart Mackenzie, 69. Avenue des Ch. Elysées.

Rev.<sup>d</sup> Francis Mahoney [*sic*, for Mahony], 16. Great Marlborough S<sup>t</sup>,

Regent's St.

[Daniele] Manin, 70 Rue Blanche.

Mr [George Perkins] Marsh, ~~Isote Brit.~~ 107. Via del Babuino.

M.<sup>t</sup> Westland Marston, 22 Rochester Road, Camden Road Villas

M.<sup>rs</sup> [Julia] Martin, Jurançon, Pau, Basses Pyrenées

M.<sup>rs</sup> Theodore Martin, 31. Onslow Square, Old Brompton

Rich.<sup>d</sup> Monckton Milnes, M.P., 16. Upper Brook S<sup>t</sup>

M. [Joseph] Milsand, ~~8 Rue Cassette, [Jardin du] Luxembourg~~

~~33 Rue de l'Ouest~~

† 9 Rue Servandoni

Rue des Forges 38. Dijon.

Miss [Mary] Minto, 32 Cambridge Terrace.

~~Miss Mitford. Swallowfield, near Reading.~~

Madame [Mary] Mohl, Rue du Bac. 120.

La Comtesse de Monbrison, 12 Rue de la Madeleine.

Le M.<sup>is</sup> de Monclar, 105 Rue de Lille.

175 Corso.

Lady Monson, Meurice, 5 (entresol) Michez  
29. King S<sup>t</sup>, S<sup>t</sup> James' Square.

Le Marquis de Montagu, 21 Rue Casimir Périer.

*La Baronne de Montaran, 27. Rue de Faubourg St Honoré.*

*Lady Morgan, 11 William Street, Albert Gate, Hyde Park*

~~*Savile Morton Esq.<sup>re</sup>, 29 Boulevard des Capucines*~~

Miss [Dinah] Mulock, ~~*18 Camden St. North*~~

*12. Melville Terrace, Torriano Avenue, Kentish Town*

*Llanover Cottage, Kilburn.*

Miss [Amelia Matilda] Murray, *3 Wilton Street, Grosvenor Place*

F. Musitano, 9 Rue Antoinette, Montmartre

– N –

[Charles] Naudin, 157 R S<sup>t</sup> Honoré.

Mrs [Frances] Nightingale, 30 Burlington S<sup>t</sup>

Brinsley Norton, Villa Poniatowsky.

– O –

M<sup>rs</sup> [Eliza] Ogilvy, ~~*Peckham Rye, Surrey*~~  
*Lower Sydenham*

M<sup>rs</sup> [Charlotte] Orme, *16. Regent's Villas, Avenue Road, Regent's Park.*

M<sup>rs</sup> [Angela] Owen, ~~*8 Amelia Place. Brompton.*~~

*33 Alfred Place, West, Brompton*

[Edward] Oxenford, Casa Tantini, Via Calzaioli.

– P –

*William Page Esq.<sup>re</sup> 43 Bocca di Leone 2.<sup>o</sup> piano, Rome.*

M<sup>rs</sup> [Caroline] Paine, *Farnham.*

Miss [Bessie Rayner] Parkes, M<sup>r</sup> & M<sup>rs</sup> Joseph Parkes.

*2 Savile Row, Burlington Gardens.*

M<sup>r</sup> Coventry Patmore, *8 Grove, Kentish Town*

*Allan Park Paton, Esq.<sup>re</sup>, Greenock. Scotland.*

*Patou, Rue Neuve St Roch*

*3 or 5 Rue Racine*

M<sup>rs</sup> [Delia] Pattison, Miss [Emma] Saltmarshe, *Hotel d'Allemagne*  
*Via Frattina 78. 3.<sup>o</sup>*

Edmund Peel, Bonchurch, I of Wight.

E[ugène]. Pelletan, Rue de Vaugirard 15.

Swin E. Penson, Mrs [Susannah] Abercrombie, 7. Southampton S<sup>t</sup>,  
Fitzroy Sq

~~*Charles C. Perkins Esq.<sup>re</sup>, 20 Rue de Grenelle, F<sup>g</sup> St Germain*~~

*Palazzo Sagrepante [sic, for Sacripante], Via del Quirinale 67*



Edward Fred<sup>k</sup> Smyth Pigott, ~~10. Wellington Street, Strand~~, London<sup>3</sup>  
 Leader Office, 154 Strand  
 (9 Southampton Row, Russell Square.)

*Miss* [Marguerite] Power, *Rue de Courcelles, 5. Paris.*

[Henry Thoby] Prinsep, Little Holland House

*James* [Pritchard],<sup>4</sup> 5 Oak Terrace, Battersea.

Bryan Waller Procter, 32 Weymouth St, Portland Place.

*M<sup>r</sup>* G[eorge]. P[almer]. Putnam, *American Literary Agency,*  
*6 Waterloo Place, Regents St.*

– R –

T. Buchanan Read, ~~1744 P. Pitti. 3<sup>o</sup>~~ *Casa del Bello.*

Charles Reynolds, 6 Oxford Square, Edgw[are]. R.

[Thomas] Richmond, 16 Beaumont S<sup>t</sup>

[Alexis François] Rio, Via del Giglio, P. Arrighetti 4112.

Mrs [Emma] Roberts, 7 Lowndes S<sup>t</sup>, Belgrave Sq.

*M<sup>r</sup>* C[rabbe] *Robinson Esq.<sup>re</sup>, 30 Russell Square*

*Md<sup>me</sup>* Romagnoli, *Miss Wilson's, Carrol Gate, East Retford, Notts.*

Dante Gabriel Rossetti, 14 Chatham Place, Blackfs Bridge.

*William Rossetti, 45. Upper Albany St.*

*John Ruskin Esq.<sup>re</sup>, Denmark Hill. Camberwell.*

Arthur Russell, 2. Audley Square.

*Miss* [Mary Ann] Russell, *16 Queen Street*

Lord Charles Russell, Woburn.

– S –

*Ma<sup>dme</sup>* George Sand, *Nohant, Prés la Chatre, Indre*  
 3 Rue Racine

Mr & Mrs Sandford Wills Sandford, Casa Falde, 3. Via S. Leopoldo

Mr. & the Misses Wills Sandford, ~~Casa Graziani, Borgo Pinti.~~  
~~Suffolk House, Cheltenham.~~

Avenue Gabriel 38.

~~10 Sussex Square~~

13. Gloucester Square, Hyde Park, London.

*M<sup>rs</sup>* [Adelaide] Sartoris, *Via della Mercede 11*

~~71 South Audley St.~~

17 Rue S<sup>t</sup> Florentin

15 Rue de l'Arcade

99 Eaton Place.

*M<sup>r</sup>* Savage, *Corso 157.*

Ary Scheffer, Rue Chaptal.

Mrs [Sarah] Shaw, Villino Lustrini, Via della Fornace

- Miss [Louisa] Shore, *Elmer's End, Beckenham, Kent.*  
 M.<sup>rs</sup> [Lydia] Sigourney, *Hartford, Connt. America.*  
 Mr [Nathaniel] Silsbee, *Casa Dies, Via Gregoriana.*  
 E[dward]. Silverthorne (see Leppard), *High S<sup>t</sup> Croydon.*  
 M.<sup>rs</sup> [Mary Ann] Smith, *Palatine Houses, Stoke Newington, London.*  
 Miss [Emily] Southwood Smith, *Via della Scalla*  
 Henry Spicer, ~~41 C. Park S<sup>t</sup>, Grosvenor Square~~  
     28. *Upper Brook Street, Park Lane.*  
 M<sup>r</sup> Clarke Stanton  
 Mrs. Duncan Stewart, *57 Upper Seymour Str, Portman Square*  
 Miss [Jane] Stirling, ~~3 Rue Fortunée, Beaujon~~  
     3 Rue de Berry.  
 M.<sup>rs</sup> [Emelyn] Story, *93. Piazza di Spagna.*  
 [Rev. James] Stratten, *65 Hamilton Terrace, S<sup>t</sup> John's Wood.*  
 M.<sup>rs</sup> Sidney Streatfield [*sic*, for Streatfeild], *28. Avenue des Ch. Elysées.*  
 James Montgomery Stuart Esq.<sup>re</sup>, ~~Casa Fenzi, Via Larga 6060 & 61~~  
     *Firenze*  
     6297 *Via San Sebastiano*  
     *Casa Orfei, Borg'ogni Santi 3914 & 15*  
     - T -
- Cav. Giovanni Tassinari  
 M<sup>r</sup> [Alfred] Tennyson, ~~Chapel House, Montpelier Row, Twickenham.~~  
     *Farringford, Freshwater I.W.*  
 Mr [Frederick] Tennyson, *Villino Torrigiani.*  
 W. M. Thackeray Esq.<sup>re</sup>, ~~Maison Spillman. Via della Croce.~~  
     36 *Onslow Sq., Brompton.*  
 M. [Jacques] Thierry, ~~4 Bis.~~ *28. Rue du Mont Parnasse.*  
 Mrs [Laura] Thistlethwaite, *15 Grosvenor Square.*  
 M<sup>r</sup> [Cephas Giovanni] Thompson, *Palazzo Fiano, Via in Lucina 17.*  
     *Florence Piazza Piattalini [sic, for Piattellina] 2869*  
 M.<sup>rs</sup> [Isabella] Tomkyns, *8 Southwick Place, Hyde Park.*  
 Madame [Anna] Tourgueneff, ~~382~~ *362 rue St Honoré.*  
 Rev.<sup>d</sup> Chauncey Hare Townsend, *21 Norfolk Street, Park Lane.*  
 Miss Trepsack, ~~26 Welbeck Street, Cavendish Square~~  
     13 *Park Street, Clarence Gate, Regent's Park*  
 Baron de Triqueti, ~~16. Rue Pigale~~  
     *Rue Blanche, 3.*  
 Lady Trotter, *La Rocheville.*  
 Hon Mr (& Mrs) Edw Twisleton, ~~H. des Isles Brit<sup>es</sup>~~  
     3 *Rutland Gate, Hyde Park*

– V –

Aubrey de Vere

*Signor Pasquale Villari, 4032 Via dei Fossi, primo piano  
Borgo Pinti, 6677.*

Mrs [Isabella Jane] Vivian, 9 Neuve des Mathurins.

– W –

*Honble M<sup>r</sup> [Henry] Walpole, Via del Tritone 33. Piazza Barberini.*

Walsh.<sup>5</sup>

*F[rederick] O[ldfield] Ward Esq.<sup>re</sup>, 12 Cork Street, Burlington Gardens*

*T[homas]. Westwood, Esq.<sup>re</sup>, ~~Rue de Bodenbrock~~, Bruxelles  
29 Rue Belliard*

M. [Jean Sylvain] Van der Weyer, 50 Portland Place.

*Miss Jessie Meriton White, ~~7 Upper Gloucester, Dorset Square.~~  
~~28 Ashley Place, Victoria St., Westminster.~~  
22 Sloane St*

Mrs Wilson, Via della Fornace.

*Cap.<sup>t</sup> Fleetwood Wilson, Casa Cerretani, Piazza S.<sup>ta</sup> Maria Novella,  
Vecchia.*

Henry Drummond Wolff, Casa Caroni, 6227 bis, via Larga

*M<sup>r</sup> Tho.<sup>s</sup> Woolner, Tudor Lodge, Albert St.  
Studio 3. Mornington Crescent.*

(Private address, 27 Rutland S<sup>t</sup>, Hampstead Road.)

*Miss [Charlotte] Williams Wynn, ~~4. Rue du Colysée~~  
~~Hotel de Russie~~*

*~~63 Corso, 2 piano~~*

*43. Green Street*

*soiled linen & table cloths – Brooks's 105&6 High St Borough*

*Up to June M<sup>r</sup> Chapman*

|                             | <i>Deficit</i> | <i>Profit</i> |
|-----------------------------|----------------|---------------|
| <i>My 2 volumes–</i>        | —              | 30            |
| <i>Casa Guidi–</i>          | 19             |               |
| <i>Robert–</i>              | 66             |               |
| <i>Christmas Eve–</i>       | 36             |               |
|                             | _____          |               |
|                             | <i>£ s d</i>   |               |
| <i>My expenses for 1851</i> | 17. 0. 9       |               |
| <i>Wiedeman's</i>           | <u>7. 2. 8</u> |               |
|                             | 24. 3. 5       |               |

For goods only. Paris to London & vice versa the steamers Paris & London sail every 10 days from each port direct– *Paris*– Pritchard & Monneron, 40 rue N[otre] Dame des Victories. *London*– Phillipps & Rowell. N<sup>o</sup> 8 Harp Lane, Lower Thames S<sup>t</sup>

*Wiedeman's expenses for 1852*

|   | <i>f<sup>r</sup></i> | <i>s</i> |   | <i>f<sup>r</sup></i> | <i>s</i> |
|---|----------------------|----------|---|----------------------|----------|
| <i>Cleaning &amp; trimming of hat</i>         | 8                    | 16       | <i>collar</i>                               | 5                    | 10       |
| <i>calico for six skirts</i>                  | 2                    | 9        | <i>silk foulard frock 3 y.<sup>ds</sup></i> | 7                    | 10       |
| <i>woollen gaiters</i>                        | 3                    |          | <i>another</i>                              | 7                    | 10       |
| <i>silk ribbon for hat</i>                    | 6                    | 16       | <i>collar</i>                               | 2                    | 10       |
| <i>p<sup>r</sup> of trowsers</i>              | 2                    | 2        | <i>collar</i>                               | 2                    | 10       |
| <i>velvet body</i>                            | 1                    | 10       | <i>valenciennes— 2 y.<sup>ds</sup></i>      | 1                    |          |
| <i>shoes</i>                                  | 2                    | 15       | <i>work for two pinafores</i>               | 1                    | 6        |
| <i>shoes</i>                                  | 3                    |          | <i>black silk for body</i>                  | 4                    |          |
| <i>frock mous. de laine 2 y.<sup>ds</sup></i> | 4                    |          | <i>black silk for polka</i>                 | 5                    |          |
| <i>cleaning &amp; trimming of</i>             |                      |          | <i>retrimming hat—</i>                      | 8                    | 10       |
| <i>Leghorn hat</i>                            | 10                   |          | <i>scarf</i>                                | 3                    |          |
| <i>gloves</i>                                 | —                    | 15       | <i>work for trowsers— 2 p</i>               | 4                    | 10       |
| <i>work for two p<sup>r</sup> of trowsers</i> | 6                    |          | <i>work for sleeves</i>                     | 2                    | 10       |

*My expenses for 1852*

|                                   | <i>f</i> | <i>s</i> |                           | <i>f</i> | <i>s</i> |
|-----------------------------------|----------|----------|---------------------------|----------|----------|
| <i>Merino gown</i>                | 37       |          | <i>black barége</i>       | 11       | 5        |
| <i>Chambord gown</i>              | 34       |          | <i>a comb</i>             | 1        | 10       |
| <i>Black lace pardessus</i>       | 30       |          | <i>black for cap</i>      | 2        |          |
| <i>Black lace cape</i>            | 10       |          | <i>black brooch</i>       | 2        |          |
| <i>Ribbon for caps</i>            | 1        | 1        | <i>Barége shawl.</i>      | 45       |          |
| <i>Chenille for hair</i>          | 4        | 15       | <i>Making up dresses</i>  | 60       |          |
| <i>Ditto</i>                      | 4        | 15       | <i>parasol.</i>           | 11       |          |
| <i>Black silk net</i>             | 8        | 10       | <i>black silk dress.</i>  | 35       |          |
| <i>Trimming for cap.</i>          | 4        | 15       | <i>a silk net</i>         | 5        |          |
| <i>Making &amp; lining &amp;c</i> |          |          | <i>retrimming 2 caps.</i> | 7        |          |
| <i>of two gowns</i>               | 24       |          | <i>making two gowns,</i>  |          |          |
| <i>thick shoes—</i>               | 4        | 10       | <i>jacket &amp;c</i>      | 37       |          |
| <i>house shoes</i>                | 4        |          | <i>mantilla</i>           | 18       |          |
| <i>bonnet</i>                     | 28       |          | <i>thick shoes</i>        | 4        | 10       |
| <i>foulard silk</i>               | 16       |          | <i>chenille for hair</i>  | 1        | 2        |
| <i>foulard silk</i>               | 22       |          | <i>mittaines</i>          | 1        | 2        |
| <i>black mourning silk</i>        | 25       |          | <i>silk skein</i>         | 1        |          |

1. Entry is made in an unidentified hand, possibly that of Charlotte Agassiz.
2. Entry is made in the hand of George Moulton-Barrett.
3. Principal entry is made in an unidentified hand, possibly that of Edward Pigott.
4. EBB has written the first few characters of a name beginning with "M." The address suggests the name should be Pritchard, as indicated in a list of persons to be forwarded presentation copies of *Men and Women* that RB sent Edward Chapman on 31 October 1855.
5. Possibly Robert Walsh (1784–1859), American journalist and diplomat, who from 1837 to 1844 was Consul General of the United States at Paris, where he remained until his death.